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CALIFORNIA REGIONAL WATER QUALITY CONTROL BOARD 
LOS ANGELES REGION 

ADMINISTRATIVE CIVIL LIABILITY COMPLAINT NO. R4-2022-0218-A2 
IN THE MATTER OF 

 
DAY TO DAY IMPORTS INC. 

VIRGIN SCENT INC. DBA ARTNATURALS 
LIBERTY PROPERTY LIMITED PARTNERSHIP 

PROLOGIS, INC.

This Administrative Civil Liability Complaint (Complaint) is issued by the Assistant 
Executive Officer of the Los Angeles Regional Water Quality Control Board (Los Angeles 
Water Board) to Day to Day Imports Inc., Virgin Scent Inc. dba ArtNaturals, Liberty 
Property Limited Partnership, and Prologis, Inc. (collectively, Dischargers) pursuant to 
California Water Code (Water Code) section 13385 or, in the alternative, section 13350, 
which authorize the imposition of administrative civil liability, Water Code section 13323, 
which authorizes the Executive Officer to issue this Complaint, and Water Code Division 
7, which authorizes the delegation of the Executive Officer’s authority to a deputy, in this 
case, the Assistant Executive Officer. This Complaint is based on evidence that the 
Dischargers discharged at least 5,079,770 gallons of water containing pollutants to the 
Dominguez Channel Estuary, a water of the United States, without a permit, on 
September 30 – October 2, 2021; or in the alternative, caused or permitted at least 
5,079,770 gallons of water containing hazardous substances to be discharged to the 
Dominguez Channel Estuary, a water of the state and United States, without a permit, 
from September 30 – October 2, 2021.

The Assistant Executive Officer of the Los Angeles Water Board alleges the following:

BACKGROUND

1. Day to Day Imports Inc. and Virgin Scent Inc. dba ArtNaturals (collectively tenants) 
were the tenants and operators of a warehouse facility located at 16325 South Avalon 
Boulevard in Carson, California (Site) involved in the general warehousing of health 
and beauty supplies.

2. Liberty Property Limited Partnership is the owner of the Site.

3. Prologis, Inc. acquired Liberty Property Limited Partnership on February 4, 2020. 
Liberty Property Limited Partnership and Prologis, Inc. are collectively referred to as 
“owners.”

4. Discharges from the Site enter storm drains connected to the municipal separate 
storm sewer system that discharges into the Dominguez Channel Estuary, a water of 
the state and United States.
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5. The Dominguez Channel Estuary is a Clean Water Act section 303(d) listed impaired 
waterbody.

6. The Water Quality Control Plan for the Los Angeles Basin (Basin Plan) designates 
the following beneficial uses for the Dominguez Channel Estuary: 1

a. Water Contact Recreation (REC-1)

b. Non-Contact Water Recreation (REC-2)

c. Commercial and Sport Fishing (COMM)

d. Estuarine Habitat (EST)

e. Marine Habitat (MAR)

f. Wildlife Habitat (WILD)

g. Rare, Threatened or Endangered Species (RARE)

h. Migration of Aquatic Organisms (MIGR)

i. Spawning, Reproduction, and/or Early Development of Fish (SPWN)

7. The Dischargers were aware of unsafe conditions on the Site that created an undue 
risk of fire, which ultimately led to the discharge of pollutants to the Dominguez 
Channel Estuary.

8. On March 31, 2021, Raul Saldana, an employee of Prologis, Inc., observed pallets of 
tenants’ products stacked high, falling over, and blocking exits at the Site. Mr. 
Saldana noted that these conditions created a fire hazard and notified other Prologis, 
Inc. employees who contacted the tenants regarding the Site conditions.

9. On May 19, 2021, the Los Angeles County Fire Department – Health Hazardous 
Materials Division (HHMD) inspected the Site and noted violations of the Health and 
Safety Code related to business plans for storing hazardous materials.2

10. During a July 27, 2021 follow-up inspection of the Site, the HHMD noted continuing 
violations related to the unsafe conditions, including inadequate storage of hazardous 
materials, at the Site.

1 The Dominguez Channel Estuary also lists Navigation as a potential beneficial use.
2 Note, the definition of “hazardous materials” under the Health and Safety Code is not the same as the 
definition of “hazardous substance” under Water Code section 13050, subdivision (p).
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11. On August 16, 2021, the County of Los Angeles Fire Department, Fire Prevention 
Division inspected the Site and noted violations related to storage of materials, 
including hazardous materials, which created a significant risk of fire.

12. On September 30, 2021, a warehouse fire at the Site burned improperly stored bottles 
of hand sanitizer, sanitizing wipes, and beauty and wellness products. As a result of 
fire suppression activities, polluted water was discharged from the Site to the 
Dominguez Channel Estuary.

13. Fire suppression activities took place between September 30, 2021 and October 2, 
2021. Over the course of these dates, water utilized in fire suppression combined 
with on-site pollutants and was discharged to the Dominguez Channel Estuary. The 
discharged pollutants included acetaldehyde, benzene, benzoic acid, naphthalene, 
acetal contaminants, acetone, ethanol, isopropyl alcohol, methanol, and sulfates.

14. Following the fire, the HHMD issued Notices of Violation/Orders to Comply on 
September 30, October 19, October 24, October 25, and December 27, 2021, 
requiring cleanup of all areas affected or impacted by the release of hazardous 
materials or waste,3 containment and prevention of stormwater runoff, immediate 
cleanup of all affected areas, appropriate testing and disposal of accumulated 
stormwater, submittal of a comprehensive cleanup and mitigation plan, and/or 
immediate coverage of all storm drains and containment of all stormwater runoff from 
the Site.

15. The discharge of pollutants from the Site caused anoxic conditions which contributed 
to the depression of dissolved oxygen in the Dominguez Channel Estuary. Once 
oxygen was depleted, the breakdown of these pollutants continued through an 
anaerobic process that produced hydrogen sulfide, a gas with a rotten egg odor. 

16. On October 4, 2021, the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (FDA) advised 
consumers not to use certain ArtNaturals hand sanitizers due to unacceptable levels 
of acetaldehyde, benzene, and acetal contaminants. This announcement allegedly 
came after Virgin Scent Inc. dba ArtNaturals failed to respond to the FDA’s multiple 
attempts to discuss contamination issues. The FDA noted that benzene may cause 
certain types of cancers in humans, and animal studies show acetaldehyde may 
cause cancers in humans and may cause serious illness or death.

17. On October 6, 2021, in response to odor complaints, the South Coast Air Quality 
Control District (SCAQMD) began monitoring hydrogen sulfide levels along the 

3 Note, the definition of “hazardous waste” under the relevant sections of the California Code of Regulations 
is not the same as the definition of “hazardous substance” under Water Code section 13050, subdivision 
(p).
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Dominguez Channel Estuary using a portable hand-held air quality monitor. 
Hydrogen sulfide monitoring in the Dominguez Channel Estuary and areas around 
the channel showed fluctuating results due to weather patterns, time of day, and wind 
conditions.

18. Beginning on October 10, 2021, the SCAQMD conducted community mobile 
monitoring near the Dominguez Channel Estuary and in and around the surrounding 
cities. Monitoring data showed elevated levels of hydrogen sulfide, with the highest 
concentrations along the Dominguez Channel Estuary. Results also showed some 
elevated levels in Carson communities adjacent to the Dominguez Channel Estuary.

19. On October 11, 2021, Los Angeles County Health Officer Muntu Davis issued a 
Public Health Directive to mitigate public nuisance due to odors from the Dominguez 
Channel.

20. In October and November 2021, the County of Los Angeles Department of Public 
Works (LACDPW) conducted sampling which demonstrated that pollutants from the 
Site had been discharged to the Dominguez Channel Estuary. Sampling also 
indicated that the total dissolved oxygen in the Dominguez Channel Estuary was 
extremely low. The LACDPW measured dissolved oxygen at three stations in the 
Dominguez Channel Estuary: (1) The Figueroa Street station  is located in the 
Estuary approximately 0.25 miles downstream from Victoria Street and is the most 
representative location for impacts to the dissolved oxygen from the Site; (2) the 
Avalon Boulevard, station  is approximately 1.7 miles downstream of the Figueroa 
Street station; and (3) the Alameda Street station  is located approximately 2.6 miles 
downstream of Avalon Boulevard. The daily dissolved oxygen in the Dominguez 
Channel Estuary at the Figueroa Street station ranged from 0.096 mg/L to 1.098 mg/L 
from October 15 – 26, 2021. The daily dissolved oxygen in the Dominguez Channel 
Estuary at the Avalon Boulevard station was consistently 0 mg/L on October 23 – 
November 1, 2021. The daily dissolved oxygen in the Dominguez Channel Estuary 
at the Alameda Street station ranged from 0 to 1.025 mg/L from October 15 – 27, 
2021. From February 13 through February 22, 2022, the daily dissolved oxygen at 
the Alameda Street location and at the Avalon Boulevard, station continued to exhibit 
depressed oxygen levels below 5 mg/L. These extremely low dissolved oxygen 
concentrations indicate the persistence of the impacts from the discharge to the 
Dominguez Channel Estuary.

21. On October 15, 2021, the LACDPW began spraying Epoleon, a biodegradable odor-
neutralizing substance, over the surface of the Dominguez Channel Estuary.

22. On October 19, 2021, LACPDW initiated aeration of the Dominguez Channel Estuary 
using nano-bubblers to increase the dissolved oxygen levels, stop the production of 
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hydrogen sulfide, and aerobically digest accumulated organic materials, thereby 
reducing biological oxygen demand (BOD) and chemical oxygen demand (COD) 
levels, and reducing the odor without disturbing the sediment at the bottom of the 
channel. Nano-bubblers supplemented with oxygen were used to accelerate the 
oxygenation process and to increase the dissolved oxygen levels in the Dominguez 
Channel Estuary, thereby preventing the further release of hydrogen sulfide.

23. On October 20, 2021, the LACDPW issued a Notice of Violation Order to Comply, 
requiring, among other items, prevention of off-site discharges and cleanup. 

24. On October 25, 2021, the City of Carson proclaimed a local emergency related to the 
Dominguez Channel odor incident.

25. On October 26, 2021, Virgin Scent Inc. dba ArtNaturals issued a voluntary recall of 
some hand sanitizer products following the FDA’s October 4, 2021, advisory for 
consumers to not use certain ArtNaturals hand sanitizers. 

26. On November 2, 2021, the Board of Supervisors of the County of Los Angeles 
proclaimed a local emergency related to the Dominguez Channel Estuary odor 
incident.

27. On November 3, 2021, the Los Angeles Water Board issued Investigative Order No. 
R4-2021-0132 to the Los Angeles County Flood Control District, the County of Los 
Angeles, and the City of Carson (MS4 Permittees). Among other items, Investigative 
Order No. R4-2021-0132 required the MS4 Permittees to sample several constituents 
in the Dominguez Channel Estuary and report on actions taken to ameliorate the 
hydrogen sulfide odors emanating from the Dominguez Channel Estuary.

28. On November 3, 2021, the LACDPW, in a continuing effort to mitigate the odors, 
began using drone sprayers to apply Epoleon to the entire width of the Dominguez 
Channel Estuary from 223rd Street to Figueroa Avenue.

29. On November 19, 2021, the Los Angeles County Department of Public Health issued 
a status update on the hydrogen sulfide odors to inform the public that the hydrogen 
sulfide levels had been declining and to begin taking steps to return home.

30. On November 24, 2021, the Los Angeles Water Board amended Investigative Order 
No. R4-2021-0132 issued to the MS4 Permittees based on their November 9, 2021 
submittal and new information regarding the potential source of the odor in the 
Dominguez Channel Estuary. Among other items, the amended order required two 
new sampling locations upstream and downstream of 190th Street.
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31. On December 9, 2021, the Los Angeles Water Board issued Investigative Order No. 
R4-2021-0140 and Cleanup and Abatement Order No. R4-2021-0141 to Day to Day 
Imports Inc. and Liberty Property Limited Partnership.

32. On February 7, 2022, the Los Angeles Water Board issued a Notice of Violation 
(NOV) notifying the Dischargers of the unauthorized discharge to waters of the state 
and United States in violation of Water Code sections 13376 and 13350, subdivision 
(b) and Clean Water Act section 301. The tenants did not respond to the Notice of 
Violation. The owners responded to the Notice of Violation on March 7, 2022 but did 
not specifically address the alleged discharge violation.

LEGAL AND REGULATORY CONSIDERATIONS
33. Water Code section 13385, subdivision (a) states in relevant part: 

A person who violates any of the following shall be liable civilly in accordance with 
this section:

(1) [Water Code] Section 13375 or 13376.

(5) A requirement of Section 301 … of the federal Clean Water Act (33 
U.S.C. Sec. 1311 …), as amended.

34. Water Code section 13385, subdivision (c) states in relevant part: 

Civil liability may be imposed administratively by the state board or a 
regional board pursuant to Article 2.5 (commencing with Section 13323) of 
Chapter 5 in an amount not to exceed the sum of both of the following:

(1) Ten thousand dollars ($10,000) for each day in which the violation 
occurs.

(2) Where there is a discharge, any portion of which is not susceptible to 
cleanup or is not cleaned up, and the volume discharged but not cleaned 
up exceeds 1,000 gallons, an additional liability not to exceed ten dollars 
($10) multiplied by the number of gallons by which the volume discharged 
but not cleaned up exceeds 1,000 gallons.

35. Water Code section 13385, subdivision (e) states in relevant part: 

At a minimum, liability shall be assessed at a level that recovers the 
economic benefits, if any, derived from the acts that constitute the violation.

36. Per Water Code section 13373, the term “pollutant,” as utilized in Water Code section 
13376, has the same meaning as in the Clean Water Act.
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37. Clean Water Act section 502(6) (33 U.S.C. § 1362(6)) defines “pollutant” as: 

Dredged spoil, solid waste, incinerator residue, sewage, garbage, sewage 
sludge, munitions, chemical wastes, biological materials, radioactive 
materials, heat, wrecked or discarded equipment, rock, sand, cellar dirt and 
industrial, municipal, and agricultural waste discharged into water. 

38. Water Code section 13350, subdivision (b)(1) states in relevant part:

A person who, without regard to intent or negligence, causes or permits a 
hazardous substance to be discharged in or on any of the waters of the 
state, except in accordance with waste discharge requirements or other 
provisions of this division, shall be strictly liable civilly in accordance with 
subdivision (d) or (e).

39. Water Code section 13050, subdivision (p)(1)(A) defines “hazardous substance” for 
discharges to surfaces waters as:

Any substance determined to be a hazardous substance pursuant to 
Section 311(b)(2) of the Federal Water Pollution Control Act [aka Clean 
Water Act] (33 U.S.C. Sec. 1251 et seq.).

40. Pursuant to Clean Water Act section 311(b)(2)(A), the U.S. EPA has designated a 
list of hazardous substances in 40 Code of Federal Regulations section 116.4, Tables 
116.4A and 116.4B. Acetaldehyde, benzene, benzoic acid, and naphthalene are 
listed as hazardous substances in Tables 116.4A and 116.4B.

41. Water Code section 13350, subdivision (e) states in relevant part:

The state board or a regional board may administratively impose civil liability 
pursuant to Article 2.5 (commencing with Section 13323) of Chapter 5 either 
on a daily basis or on a per gallon basis, but not on both.

(1) The civil liability on a daily basis shall not exceed five thousand dollars 
($5,000) for each day the violation occurs.

(2) The civil liability on a per gallon basis shall not exceed ten dollars ($10) 
for each gallon of waste discharged.

42. Pursuant to Water Code section 13385, subdivision (g) and 13350, subdivision (j), 
liability shall not be recoverable under both Water Code sections 13385 and 13350 
for the same underlying violation.
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43. Pursuant to Water Code sections 13327 and 13385, subdivision (e), in determining 
the amount of administrative civil liability, the Los Angeles Water Board shall take into 
consideration the nature, circumstances, extent, and gravity of the violation, whether 
the discharge is susceptible to cleanup or abatement, the degree of toxicity of the 
discharge, and, with respect to the violator, the ability to pay, the effect on the ability 
to continue in business, any voluntary cleanup efforts undertaken, any prior history 
of violations, the degree of culpability, economic benefit or savings, if any, resulting 
from the violation, and other matters as justice may require.

44. On April 4, 2017, the State Water Resources Control Board adopted Resolution No. 
2017-0020, which adopted the Water Quality Enforcement Policy (Enforcement 
Policy). The Enforcement Policy was approved by the Office of Administrative Law 
and became effective on October 5, 2017. The Enforcement Policy establishes a 
methodology for assessing administrative civil liability. The use of this methodology 
addresses the factors that are required to be considered when imposing an 
administrative civil liability as outlined in Water Code sections 13327 and 13385, 
subdivision (e).

45. Issuance of this Complaint to enforce Water Code Division 7, Chapters 5 and 5.5 is 
exempt from the provisions of the California Environmental Quality Act (Pub. 
Resources Code, §21000 et seq), in accordance with California Code of Regulations, 
title 14, section 15321, subdivision (a)(2).

ALLEGED VIOLATIONS

46. The Los Angeles Water Board Prosecution Team alleges that the Dischargers 
violated Water Code section 13376 and/or Clean Water Act section 301 by 
discharging at least 5,079,770 gallons of water containing pollutants to the 
Dominguez Channel Estuary, a water of the United States, without a permit from 
September 30 – October 2, 2021. The pollutants consisted of acetaldehyde, 
benzene, benzoic acid, naphthalene, acetal contaminants, acetone, ethanol, 
isopropyl alcohol, methanol, and sulfates. The Dischargers are subject to 
administrative civil liability under Water Code section 13385, subdivisions (a)(1) and 
(a)(5).

47. In the alternative, the Los Angeles Water Board Prosecution Team alleges that the 
Dischargers are subject to administrative civil liability under Water Code section 
13350, subdivision (b)(1) for causing or permitting at least 5,079,770 gallons of water 
containing hazardous substances to be discharged to the Dominguez Channel 
Estuary, a water of the state and United States from September 30 – October 2, 2021. 
The discharged hazardous substances include acetaldehyde, benzene, benzoic acid, 
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and naphthalene. This violation is subject to administrative civil liability under Water 
Code section 13350, subdivision (e).

48. As stated above, pursuant to Water Code section 13385, subdivision (g) and Water 
Code section 13350, subdivision (j), liability is not recoverable under both Water Code 
sections 13385 and 13350 for the same underlying violation. The primary violation 
alleged by the Los Angeles Water Board Prosecution Team is the Water Code section 
13376 and/or Clean Water Act section 301 violation identified in paragraph 46, with 
the Water Code section 13350, subdivision (b)(1) violation identified in paragraph 47, 
plead in the alternative.

BASIS FOR NAMING PROLOGIS, INC.

49. Prologis, Inc. and Liberty Property Limited Partnership are in an agency relationship 
with one another, were operating and acting within the scope of an agency 
relationship at all relevant times, engaged in wrongful acts, and authorized or ratified 
those acts.

50. Prologis, Inc. managed, directed, and/or conducted operations specifically related to 
pollution and/or made decision about compliance with environmental regulations at 
the Site.  Prologis, Inc.’s degree of oversight at the Site goes beyond accepted norms 
of parental oversight of a subsidiary’s facility.  Prologis, Inc. had responsibility for 
and/or control over the actions or lack thereof that gave rise to the violations.

51. Prologis, Inc. and Liberty Property Limited Partnership are alter egos of one another 
and share a unity of interest.  An inequitable result would follow if the Los Angeles 
Water Board upheld the corporate fiction of Prologis, Inc.’s and Liberty Property 
Limited Partnership’s separateness.

52. Prologis, Inc. and Liberty Property Limited Partnership were operating a joint venture 
at all relevant times because they have a combined property to carry out a single 
business undertaking; have a shared ownership interest in the real estate investment 
business; have joint control over the business; share profits and losses of the 
business, and; an implied or express joint venture agreement has been formed by 
their conduct.

PROPOSED ADMINISTRATIVE CIVIL LIABILITY

53. The Prosecution Team proposes an administrative civil liability of $11,517,529 for the 
alleged Water Code section 13376 and/or Clean Water Act section 301 violation, as 
detailed in Attachment A to this Complaint, herein incorporated by reference.
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54. In the alternative, the Prosecution Team proposes an administrative civil liability of 
$11,452,279 for the alleged Water Code section 13350, subdivision (b)(1) violation, 
as detailed in Attachment A to this Complaint.

55. The proposed administrative civil liabilities were derived using the penalty calculation 
methodology in the Enforcement Policy. The proposed administrative civil liabilities 
take into account the factors described in Water Code sections 13327 and 13385, 
subdivision (e), such as the Dischargers’ culpability, history of violations, ability to 
pay, and other factors as justice may require. The proposed liability is joint and 
several amongst the named Dischargers.

56. Notwithstanding the issuance of this Complaint, the Los Angeles Water Board retains 
the authority to assess additional administrative civil liability for violations which have 
not yet been assessed or for violations that may subsequently occur.

MAXIMUM LIABILITY

57. Pursuant to Water Code section 13385, subdivision (c), the statutory maximum 
administrative civil liability for the alleged Water Code section 13376 and/or Clean 
Water Act section 301 violation is $10,000 per day of violation, plus $10 for each 
gallon discharged and not cleaned up in excess of 1,000 gallons. The discharge is 
alleged to have consisted of at least 5,079,770 gallons over 3 days (September 30 – 
October 2, 2021). Therefore, the statutory maximum liability under Water Code 
section 13385, subdivision (c) is $50,817,700.

58. Pursuant to Water Code section 13350, subdivision (e)(2), the statutory maximum 
administrative civil liability for the alleged Water Code section 13350, subdivision 
(b)(1) violation is ten dollars ($10) for each gallon of waste discharged. The discharge 
is alleged to have consisted of at least 5,079,770 gallons. Therefore, the statutory 
maximum liability under Water Code section 13350, subdivision (e)(2) is 
$50,797,700.

59. The proposed administrative civil liability is below the statutory maximum liabilities 
under Water Code sections 13385 and 13350.

MINIMUM LIABILITY

60. For the Water Code section 13376 and/or Clean Water Act section 301 violation, 
Water Code section 13385, subdivision (e) requires that when pursuing civil liability 
under section 13385, “[a]t a minimum, liability shall be assessed at a level that 
recovers the economic benefits, if any, derived from the acts that constitute the 
violation.” The statutory minimum associated with the economic benefit for the 
alleged violation is $747,370.
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61. No statutory minimum liability applies to the Water Code section 13350, subdivision 
(b)(1) violation.

62. However, the Enforcement Policy requires the Los Angeles Water Board to recover, 
at a minimum, the economic benefit plus 10%. The minimum liability under the 
Enforcement Policy is the economic benefit plus 10%, which is equal to $822,107. 

63. The proposed administrative civil liability is above the minimum liability amounts.

THE DISCHARGERS ARE HEREBY GIVEN NOTICE THAT:

64. The Assistant Executive Officer of the Los Angeles Water Board proposes an 
administrative civil liability in the amount of $11,517,529 pursuant to Water Code 
section 13385, or in the alternative $11,452,279 pursuant to Water Code section 
13350. The amount of the proposed administrative civil liability is based upon a 
review of the factors cited in Water Code sections 13327 and 13385, subdivision (e), 
as well as the Enforcement Policy.

65. A hearing on this matter will be conducted by the Los Angeles Water Board on a 
date to be determined. On July 22, 2022, Liberty Property Limited Partnership and 
Prologis, Inc. submitted a Waiver Form which waived their right to a hearing within 
90 days of the issuance of this Complaint as articulated in Water Code section 
13323. On July 29, 2022, Day to Day Imports Inc. and Virgin Scent Inc. dba 
ArtNaturals submitted a Waiver Form waiving their right to a hearing within 90 days.

66. If a hearing is held, it will be governed by Hearing Procedures which will be issued 
by the Advisory Team. During the hearing, the Los Angeles Water Board will hear 
testimony and arguments and affirm, reject, or modify the proposed administrative 
civil liability, or determine whether to refer the matter to the Attorney General for 
recovery of judicial civil liability.

67. The Assistant Executive Officer reserves the right to amend the proposed amount 
of administrative civil liability to conform to the evidence presented.

________________________

Hugh Marley  
Assistant Executive Officer

Attachment A: Penalty Calculation Methodology
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Attachment A 
Penalty Calculation Methodology 

Administrative Civil Liability Complaint No. R4-2022-0218-A2 
Day to Day Imports Inc., Virgin Scent Inc. dba ArtNaturals, Liberty Property Limited 

Partnership, and Prologis, Inc.

Day to Day Imports Inc., Virgin Scent Inc. dba ArtNaturals, Liberty Property Limited 
Partnership, and Prologis, Inc. (collectively, Dischargers) are alleged to have discharged 
at least 5,079,770 gallons of water containing pollutants to the Dominguez Channel 
Estuary, a water of the United States, without a permit from September 30 – October 2, 
2021; or in the alternative, to have caused or permitted at least 5,079,770 gallons of water 
containing hazardous substances to be discharged to the Dominguez Channel Estuary, 
a water of the state and United States, from September 30 – October 2, 2021.

The unauthorized discharge of pollutants to the Dominguez Channel Estuary, a water of 
the United States, without a permit is a violation of California Water Code (Water Code) 
section 13376 and Clean Water Act section 301. The pollutants consisted of 
acetaldehyde, benzene, benzoic acid, naphthalene, acetal contaminants, acetone, 
ethanol, isopropyl alcohol, methanol, and sulfates. The Dischargers are subject to 
administrative civil liabilities pursuant to Water Code section 13385, subdivisions (a)(1) 
and (a)(5). Pursuant to Water Code section 13385, subdivision (c), the Dischargers are 
subject to administrative civil liability of up to $10,000 per day of violation, plus $10 for 
each gallon discharged and not cleaned up in excess of 1,000 gallons.

In the alternative, causing or permitting water containing hazardous substances to be 
discharged to the Dominguez Channel Estuary, a water of the state and United States, 
without a permit is a violation of Water Code section 13350, subdivision (b)(1). The 
discharged hazardous substances include acetaldehyde, benzene, benzoic acid, and 
naphthalene. The Dischargers are subject to administrative civil liabilities pursuant to 
Water Code section 13350, subdivision (e) of up to $10 for each gallon of waste 
discharged or $5,000 per day of violation.

Factors required to be considered in determining the amount of administrative civil liability 
pursuant to Water Code sections 13327 and 13385, subdivision (e), as well as the State 
Water Resources Control Board’s Water Quality Enforcement Policy effective October 5, 
2017 (Enforcement Policy) are discussed below. The Enforcement Policy can be found 
at 
https://www.waterboards.ca.gov/board_decisions/adopted_orders/resolutions/2017/0404
17_9_final%20adopted%20policy.pdf.

Violation: Unauthorized discharge of pollutants to the Dominguez Channel Estuary, 
a water of the United States, without a permit.

Step 1. Actual or Potential for Harm for Discharge Violations

a) Factor 1 The Degree of Toxicity of the Discharge: 4

https://www.waterboards.ca.gov/board_decisions/adopted_orders/resolutions/2017/040417_9_final adopted policy.pdf
https://www.waterboards.ca.gov/board_decisions/adopted_orders/resolutions/2017/040417_9_final adopted policy.pdf
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A score between 0 and 4 is assigned based on a consideration of the 
characteristics of the discharged material and the risk of damage to potential 
receptors or beneficial uses caused by the discharged material. The Degree of 
Toxicity score for the alleged violation is 4. A score of 4 is defined as the 
“discharged material poses a significant risk or threat to potential receptors (i.e., 
the chemical and/or physical characteristics of the discharged material far exceed 
risk factors and pose a significant threat to potential receptor uses).”

The following pollutants were discharged into the Dominguez Channel Estuary by 
the Dischargers:

Acetaldehyde 

Acetaldehyde is a volatile organic compound that is flammable and 
miscible (mixes well) with water. It is a key generator of free radicals and 
a known carcinogen.1 Acetaldehyde is toxic to fish.

Benzene

Benzene is an aromatic volatile organic compound that is flammable. It is 
insoluble in water. Benzene is a carcinogen and acutely toxic to fish.

Benzoic Acid

Benzoic acid is a white crystalline solid that is slightly soluble in water. 
Benzoic acid is toxic to humans and fish.

Naphthalene

Naphthalene is a highly flammable solid and insoluble in water. 
Naphthalene impacts both human health and causes chronic toxicity to 
fish. The vapor given off when naphthalene is heated is flammable and a 
fire hazard.

Acetal Contaminants

Acetal contaminants are volatile organic compounds that are highly 
flammable and slightly soluble in water. Acetal contaminants impact 
human health because they are irritants and a central nervous system 
depressant. Acetal contaminants also cause chronic toxicity to fish.

1 Risks to human health are discussed generally in the Degree of Toxicity analysis to acknowledge that 
these pollutants have the ability to impact a potential receptor. More specific human health impacts are 
discussed in the Actual Harm or Potential for Harm to Beneficial Uses analysis in Factor 2 below.
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Acetone

Acetone is a volatile organic compound that is flammable and miscible 
with water. Acetone is associated with human neurological effects and is 
acutely toxic to fish.

Ethanol

Ethanol is a volatile organic compound and an alcohol. Ethanol is 
flammable and miscible with water. Ethanol presents a human health risk 
because it is a neurotoxin, central nervous system depressant, and a 
carcinogen. Ethanol is toxic to fish.

Isopropyl Alcohol

Isopropyl alcohol, also known as isopropanol, is a volatile organic 
compound and an alcohol. Isopropyl alcohol is flammable and miscible 
with water. Isopropyl alcohol is known to be toxic to fish and invertebrates. 
It also presents a risk to human health. 

Methanol

Methanol is a volatile organic compound and an alcohol. Methanol is 
flammable and miscible with water. Methanol exposure presents risks to 
human health and is toxic to fish and invertebrates.

Sulfates

Sulfates are soluble in water. Sulfates can be acutely toxic to water fleas 
and protozoans. Sulfates can cause skin irritation in humans.

All these pollutants (acetaldehyde, benzene, benzoic acid, naphthalene, 
acetal contaminants, acetone, ethanol, isopropyl alcohol, methanol, and 
sulfates), due to their chemical nature, are known to cause or contribute to 
depressions of dissolved oxygen in surface waters. In this case, these 
pollutants created a condition of low dissolved oxygen in the Dominguez 
Channel Estuary which caused a chemical reaction to take place resulting 
in the production of toxic hydrogen sulfide (H₂S) gas, a waste product of 
sulfate-reducing microorganisms.

In addition to the impacts from the odors, these pollutants cause and/or 
contribute to anoxic conditions in waterbodies which are harmful to aquatic 
life and its habitat.

The individual toxicity of each of these pollutants poses a significant risk to both 
human and aquatic life receptors; therefore, a Degree of Toxicity score of 4 is 
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assigned for this violation.

b) Factor 2 Actual Harm or Potential Harm to Beneficial Uses: Major (5)

An Actual Harm or Potential Harm to Beneficial Uses score of Major is assigned 
for this violation. The Enforcement Policy defines a score of Major as a violation 
having “high harm or threat of harm to beneficial uses.” The Enforcement Policy 
further states: “A score of major is typified by observed or reasonably expected 
potential significant impacts, and involves potential for or actual acute, and/or 
chronic (e.g., more than five day) restrictions on, or impairment of, beneficial uses, 
aquatic life, and/or human health.”

The Site discharges into storm drains connected to the municipal separate storm 
water system that discharges into the Dominguez Channel Estuary. The 
Dominguez Channel Estuary is a Clean Water Act section 303(d) listed impaired 
waterbody. The Water Quality Control Plan for the Los Angeles Basin (Basin Plan) 
designates the following beneficial uses for the Dominguez Channel Estuary: 
Water Contact Recreation (REC-1); Non-Contact Water Recreation (REC-2); 
Commercial and Sport Fishing (COMM); Estuarine Habitat (EST); Marine Habitat 
(MAR); Wildlife Habitat (WILD); Rare, Threatened, or Endangered Species 
(RARE); Migration of Aquatic Organisms (MIGR); and Spawning, Reproduction, 
and/or Early Development of Fish (SPWN).2

All Discharged Pollutants Significantly Impacted Dissolved Oxygen and 
Associated Beneficial Uses

The discharge of the above referenced pollutants (acetaldehyde, benzene, 
benzoic acid, naphthalene, acetal contaminants, acetone, ethanol, 
isopropyl alcohol, methanol, and sulfates) significantly harmed the 
beneficial uses in the Dominguez Channel Estuary by causing the dissolved 
oxygen levels to decline due to anoxic conditions. The discharge of these 
pollutants contributed to the depression of dissolved oxygen in the 
Dominguez Channel Estuary through aerobic and anaerobic processes 
carried out by microorganisms. Once oxygen was depleted, the breakdown 
of these pollutants continued through an anaerobic process that produced 
hydrogen sulfide gas (a rotten egg odor). Impacts to beneficial uses were 
prolonged as odors persisted in the Dominguez Channel Estuary and its 
vicinity from at least October 3, 2021 to November 19, 2021.

Odors That Resulted from the Discharge Adversely Affected Water 
Contact Recreation (REC-1) and Non-Contact Water Recreation (REC-2) 
Beneficial Uses

2 The Dominguez Channel Estuary also lists Navigation as a potential beneficial use.



Administrative Civil Liability Complaint No. R4-2022-0218-A2 
Attachment A 
Day to Day Imports Inc., Virgin Scent Inc. dba ArtNaturals, Liberty Property Limited 
Partnership, and Prologis, Inc.

5

Water Contact Recreation (REC-1) and Non-Contact Water Recreation 
(REC-2) were impacted by the discharge of pollutants because the 
discharge resulted in the production of the hydrogen sulfide gas and the 
odor was pervasive in and around the Dominguez Channel Estuary. Water 
contact recreation (such as swimming) or non-water contact recreation 
(such as recreational walking) near the Dominguez Channel Estuary were 
not possible due to the foul, noxious odors created by the emitted hydrogen 
sulfide.

Depressed Dissolved Oxygen Adversely Impacted Commercial and Sport 
Fishing (COMM); Estuarine Habitat (EST); Marine Habitat (MAR); Wildlife 
Habitat (WILD); Rare, Threatened, or Endangered Species (RARE); 
Migration of Aquatic Organisms (MIGR); and Spawning, Reproduction, 
and/or Early Development of Fish (SPWN) Beneficial Uses

These beneficial uses require that the water is oxygenated enough to be 
suitable to support aquatic life. The Basin Plan states that the mean annual 
dissolved oxygen concentration of all waters shall be greater than 7 mg/L, 
and no single determination shall be less than 5.0 mg/L, except when 
natural conditions cause lesser concentrations. The Los Angeles County 
Department of Public Works (LACDPW) measured dissolved oxygen at 3 
stations in the Dominguez Channel Estuary to assess impacts resulting 
from the discharge. The daily average dissolved oxygen level at the 
Figueroa Street station ranged from 0.096 mg/L to 1.098 mg/L over the span 
of 12 days (October 15 – 26, 2021). The daily dissolved oxygen level at the 
Avalon Boulevard station was consistently 0 mg/L from October 23 – 
November 1, 2021. The daily dissolved oxygen at the Alameda Street 
station ranged from 0 to 1.025 mg/L from October 15 – 27, 2021. Dissolved 
oxygen of at least 5 mg/L is needed for fish to survive. Chemical reactions 
in the Dominguez Channel Estuary caused by the discharge event led to 
the oxidation of pollutants, depressing the dissolved oxygen to 0 mg/L. On 
February 24, 2022, dissolved oxygen continued to be measured below 5 
mg/L in the Dominguez Channel Estuary as a result of the discharge. This 
lack of dissolved oxygen created a prolonged condition in the Dominguez 
Channel Estuary ecosystem that could not support Commercial and Sport 
Fishing (COMM); Estuarine Habitat (EST); Marine Habitat (MAR); Wildlife 
Habitat (WILD); Rare, Threatened, or Endangered Species (RARE); 
Migration of Aquatic Organisms (MIGR); and Spawning, Reproduction, 
and/or Early Development of Fish (SPWN) beneficial uses.

Odorous Conditions Created by the Discharge Impacted Human Health

Residents living in nearby communities relocated due to the foul odors. 
Residents living in the watershed near the Dominguez Channel Estuary 
reported physiological symptoms because of the hydrogen sulfide odors 
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which resulted in residents leaving the area. Workers from the South Coast 
Air Quality Management District (SCAQMD) and the LACDPW who were 
working in the Dominguez Channel Estuary investigating the odors had to 
wear respirators to protect their health from the foul odors. On November 
19, 2021, only after extensive remediation efforts to mitigate the odors by 
the LACDPW, the Public Health Officer issued an update for relocated 
residents to return home.

Individual Pollutants had the Potential to Adversely Impact Human Health

There was a potential for harm to human health from the discharge event 
associated with the pollutants that were discharged.

· Acetaldehyde damages DNA and prevents the body from repairing 
the damage. It also has the potential to cause cancer in humans 
and may cause serious illness or death.

· Benzene has the potential to cause cancer in humans.

· Benzoic acid is known to cause immediate eye damage, skin 
irritation, rash, redness, and/or a burning feeling. It can also cause 
irritation to the nose, throat, and lungs if inhaled, which may cause 
coughing, wheezing, and/or shortness of breath.

· Acute, short- term exposure to very large amounts of naphthalene 
can cause damage to blood cells, leading to a condition called 
hemolytic anemia. Naphthalene has the potential to cause cancer 
in humans.

· Ingestion of isopropyl alcohol can lead to renal failure. Severe 
isopropyl alcohol poisoning results in respiratory depression and 
circulatory collapse.

· Acetal contaminants irritate the upper respiratory tract and can act 
as a central nervous system depressant. Symptoms of exposure 
include headache, dizziness, drowsiness, abdominal pain, and 
nausea. Acetal contaminants have the potential to cause cancer in 
humans.

· Acetone can impact human health ranging from mild 
neurobehavioral effects to severe narcosis. These effects have 
been observed following inhalation and oral exposures to acetone. 
Acetone has the potential to cause cancer in humans.

· Ethanol can cause skin irritation.
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· Sulfates can cause skin irritation.

Due to the prolonged, significant actual and potential impacts to human 
health, beneficial uses, and aquatic life, an Actual Harm or Potential Harm 
to Beneficial Uses score of Major (5) is assigned for this violation.

c) Factor 3 Susceptibility to Cleanup or Abatement: 1

A score of 1 is appropriate where 50% or more of the discharge is susceptible to 
cleanup or abatement, but the discharger failed to clean up 50% or more of the 
discharge within a reasonable time. In this case, the Dischargers did not clean up 
or abate any of the discharge into the Dominguez Channel Estuary. The LACDPW 
abated the odors created by the discharge by applying aerators to oxygenate the 
Dominguez Channel Estuary water, and by applying an odor control neutralizer to 
the Dominguez Channel Estuary water. The Dischargers do not get credit for 
actions taken by others to cleanup and abate the discharge. Cleanup of the Site 
itself is also not considered under this factor as it is not related to cleanup and 
abatement of the alleged violation. Therefore, a Susceptibility to Cleanup or 
Abatement score of 1 is assigned for this violation.

d) Potential for Harm Score: 10

The Potential for Harm Score is the sum of the scores for Degree of Toxicity, Actual 
Harm or Potential Harm to Beneficial Uses, and Susceptibility to Cleanup or 
Abatement.

Potential for Harm Score = 4 (Degree of Toxicity) + 5 (Actual Harm or Potential 
Harm to Beneficial Uses) + 1 (Susceptibility to Cleanup or Abatement) = 10

Step 2. Assessment for Discharge Violations

a) Deviation from Requirement: Major

The Deviation from Requirement reflects the extent to which the violation deviates 
from the specific requirement that was violated. The Deviation from Requirement 
for the alleged violation is Major. The Enforcement Policy defines a Major Deviation 
from Requirement as “[t]he requirement was rendered ineffective (e.g., the 
requirement was rendered ineffective in its essential functions).”

Water Code section 13376 and Clean Water Act section 301 prohibit the discharge 
of pollutants unless authorized by waste discharge requirements (i.e., a permit). 
Waste discharge requirements protect surface water by either prohibiting 
discharge of pollutants to surface waters or prescribing requirements for discharge 
to surface waters.
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The Deviation from Requirement is Major because Water Code section 13376 and 
Clean Water Act section 301 were rendered ineffective in their essential function 
of protecting the Dominguez Channel Estuary from a discharge containing the 
pollutants alleged above which resulted in negative impacts to the Dominguez 
Channel Estuary and nearby residents. A discharge of the type alleged herein 
would never have been permitted by the Los Angeles Water Board.

b) High Volume Discharges: $1.00/gallon

Water Code section 13385, subdivision (c) provides that administrative civil liability 
may be imposed up to $10.00 for each gallon discharged and not cleaned up in 
excess of 1,000 gallons.

Generally, the Water Boards apply the per gallon factor to the maximum per gallon 
amount allowed under the Water Code for the violation alleged. However, 
recognizing that the volume of some discharges can be very high, the Enforcement 
Policy allows the Water Boards to use a value between $1.00 and $10.00 per 
gallon to determine the per gallon amount for discharges in excess of 2,000,000 
gallons. The Los Angeles Water Board Prosecution Team alleges the discharge 
consisted of at least 5,079,770 gallons. The Los Angeles Water Board Prosecution 
Team is using the conservative volume calculation of 5,079,770 gallons for 
purposes of this penalty calculation methodology. The Los Angeles Water Board 
Prosecution Team has determined a per gallon amount of $1.00 per gallon is 
appropriate and would not result in an inappropriately small administrative civil 
liability.

c) Per Gallon Assessment for Discharge Violations: $1.00/gallon

When there is a discharge, the Los Angeles Water Board determines the initial 
liability on a per gallon basis using the Potential for Harm Score from Step 1 and 
the Deviation from Requirement.

Table 1 of the Enforcement Policy is used to determine the per gallon factor using 
the Potential for Harm Score and the Deviation from Requirement. Using a 
Potential for Harm Score of 10 and a Deviation from Requirement of Major, the per 
gallon factor is 1.0. This per gallon factor is then multiplied by the volume of the 
discharge and the maximum per gallon amount, as described below.

Per Gallon Assessment = 1.0 (per gallon factor) x (5,079,770 gallons – 1,000 
gallons) x $1.00/gallon = $5,078,770

d) Per Day Assessment for Discharge Violations

Table 2 of the Enforcement Policy is used to determine a per day factor based on 
the Potential for Harm Score from Step 1 and the Deviation from Requirement. 
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Using a Potential for Harm Score of 10 and a Deviation from Requirement of Major, 
the per day factor is 1.0. The Per Day Assessment is calculated as the per day 
factor multiplied by the number of days of violation and the $10,000 per day 
statutory maximum under Water Code section 13385, subdivision (c). Here, the 
discharge occurred for 3 days from September 30 – October 2, 2021.

Per Day Assessment = 1.0 (per day factor) x 3 days x $10,000/day = $30,000

e) Initial Liability Amount

The Initial Liability Amount is the Per Gallon Assessment plus the Per Day 
Assessment = $5,078,770 Per Gallon Assessment + $30,000 Per Day Assessment 
= $5,108,770

Step 3. Per Day Assessments for Non-Discharge Violations

This factor does not apply to this violation.

Step 4. Adjustment Factors

a) Degree of Culpability: 1.5

The Culpability multiplier ranges between 0.75 and 1.5, with a higher multiplier for 
intentional misconduct and gross negligence, and a lower multiplier for more 
simple negligence.

A Culpability multiplier of 1.5 is assigned for this violation. A reasonable and 
prudent person who operates a business engaged in the storage of hazardous 
materials that are flammable, and pose additional risks to the environment, such 
as the ones stored by the Dischargers, would have taken the precautions 
necessary to store the materials appropriately to avoid the potential for a fire. 

This is especially true given that prior to the fire, the Los Angeles County Fire 
Department (Fire Department) inspected the Site in May, July, and August 2021, 
and noted violations related to improper storage of hazardous materials at the Site 
and the associated fire hazard. 

Moreover, since at least March 2021, the Dischargers were aware of the fire 
hazard posed by the Site. On March 31, 2021, Raul Saldana, an employee of 
Prologis, Inc., observed pallets of tenants’ products stacked high, falling over, and 
blocking exits at the Site. Mr. Saldana was concerned about a fire hazard and 
notified other Prologis, Inc. employees who contacted the tenants regarding Site 
conditions. 

Despite knowledge and multiple notifications of the problems at the Site, the 
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Dischargers failed to correct the improper storage violations and continued to 
improperly store the hazardous materials creating an unreasonable risk of a fire 
and associated discharge of pollutants.

A reasonable and prudent person would expect the Fire Department to respond to 
a fire event which would result in firefighting water combining with on-site pollutants 
being discharged to surface waters through multiple on-site storm drains.

No additional actions were taken by the Dischargers to reduce the fire risk, and 
associated risk of an unauthorized discharge of pollutants, despite actual 
knowledge that the conditions at the site were unsafe.

Therefore, a Culpability multiplier of 1.5 is assigned for this violation.

b) History of Violations: 1.0

Where the discharger has no prior history of violations, this factor should be 
neutral, or 1.0. Where the discharger has prior violations within the last five years, 
the Water Boards should use a multiplier of 1.1. Where the discharger has a history 
of similar or numerous dissimilar violations, the Water Boards should consider 
adopting a multiplier above 1.1. Because the Dischargers have no prior history of 
violations, a multiplier of 1.0 was assigned for this violation.

c) Cleanup and Cooperation: 1.5

The Cleanup and Cooperation multiplier ranges from 0.75 to 1.5, with a lower 
multiplier where there is exceptional cleanup and cooperation compared to what 
can be reasonably expected, and a higher multiplier where there is not.

A Cleanup and Cooperation multiplier of 1.5 is assigned for this violation. The 
Dischargers failed to cleanup or abate any portion of the discharge. All cleanup 
and abatement activities in the Dominguez Channel Estuary and storm drains were 
undertaken by the County of Los Angeles. The Dischargers do not get credit for 
actions taken by others to cleanup and abate the discharge.

While the Dischargers implemented interim measures to prevent additional 
discharges from the Site, such measures merely prevented the Dischargers from 
incurring additional violations and did not involve cleanup or abatement of the 
violation alleged in this Complaint. Moreover, such interim measures were not 
voluntary; they were required by Orders to Comply issued by the Fire Department 
and Cleanup and Abatement Order No. R4-2021-0141.

Cleanup of the Site itself is also not considered under this factor as it is not related 
to cleanup and abatement of the alleged violation and is more appropriately 
addressed in Administrative Civil Liability Complaint No. R4-2022-0219-A1, which 
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is based on failure to comply with Cleanup and Abatement Order No. R4-2021-
0141.

On February 7, 2022, the Los Angeles Water Board issued a Notice of Violation 
(NOV) to the Dischargers for, among other items, the alleged discharge violation. 
Liberty Property Limited Partnership and Prologis, Inc. submitted a written 
response to the NOV on March 7, 2022 but did not address the discharge violation. 
Day to Day Imports Inc. and Virgin Scent Inc. dba ArtNaturals did not respond to 
the NOV.

Therefore, a Cleanup and Cooperation multiplier of 1.5 is assigned because the 
Dischargers actions fell far below what is expected in a reasonable and prudent 
response to a discharge violation as they did not cleanup or abatement any portion 
of the discharge and did not communicate with the Los Angeles Water Board 
regarding the discharge.

Step 5. Total Base Liability Amount

Total Base Liability Amount = $5,108,770 (Initial Liability Amount) x 1.5 (Degree of 
Culpability) x 1.0 (History of Violations) x 1.5 (Cleanup and Cooperation) = 
$11,494,732

Step 6. Ability to Pay and Ability to Continue in Business

The Enforcement Policy requires the Los Angeles Water Board to analyze the 
Dischargers’ ability to pay the Total Base Liability Amount and the effect paying the Total 
Base Liability Amount may have on the Dischargers’ ability to continue in business. The 
Dischargers have the ability to pay the Total Base Liability Amount and continue in 
business. As of December 31, 2021, Prologis, Inc. had over $100 billion in owned or 
managed ventures, properties, and development projects worldwide, with another $65.3 
billion in investments worldwide, $5 billion in total available liquidity, and $13.8 billion 
worth of consolidated operating properties in California alone. Liberty Property Limited 
Partnership had approximately $7 billion in assets in 2019, with the Site valued at 
approximately $47 million in 2019 based on Los Angeles County Tax Assessor Records. 
Virgin Scent Inc. dba ArtNaturals and Day to Day Imports Inc. earned approximately $20 
million and $2.5 million, respectively, in revenue in 2020. Therefore, the Dischargers’ 
assets are more than sufficient to pay the Total Base Liability Amount.

Step 7. Economic Benefit

The Enforcement Policy provides that the economic benefit of noncompliance should be 
calculated using the United States Environmental Protection Agency’s (U.S. EPA) 
Economic Benefit Model (BEN) program unless it is demonstrated that an alternative 
method of calculating the economic benefit is more appropriate. Economic benefit was 
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calculated using BEN Version 2021.0.0 (April 2021). For this case, BEN was determined 
to be the appropriate method. Using standard economic principals such as time-value of 
money and tax deductibility of compliance costs, BEN calculates a discharger’s economic 
benefit derived from delaying or avoiding compliance with environmental statutes. In this 
case, the economic benefit was calculated as the avoided cost associated with additional 
space for excess stored material. Using BEN, the economic benefit of noncompliance is 
$747,370.

Step 8. Other Factors as Justice May Require

If the Los Angeles Water Board believes that the amount determined using the above 
factors is inappropriate, the amount may be adjusted under the provision for “other factors 
as justice may require,” but only if express findings are made to justify this adjustment.

a) Environmental Justice Considerations

The Enforcement Policy provides that “a consideration of environmental justice 
issues,” is appropriate in this factor. Consideration of environmental justice 
ensures that enforcement is conducted in a manner that advances the fair 
treatment of people of all races, cultures, and income levels. The location of the 
discharge and some of the areas impacted by the discharge are classified as 
Environmental Justice (EJ) and/or Disadvantaged Communities (DAC). The 
location of the discharge and areas impacted by the discharge are especially 
important because any conditions of noncompliance would affect already 
overburdened communities. CalEPA utilizes a screening tool, the California 
Communities Environmental Health Screening Tool (CalEnviroScreen), to identify 
communities in California that bear a disproportionate burden of environmental 
pollution and other hazards. For the area where the Site is located, 
CalEnviroScreen identifies the community as being within the 92nd percentile of 
communities. Such a high score indicates that the community is an EJ community 
and/or DAC. Similarly, CalEnviroScreen indicates communities impacted by the 
hydrogen sulfide odors in portions of Carson, Gardena, Wilmington, Torrance, and 
Long Beach are also EJ communities and/or DACs. The location of the violation 
and the areas impacted by the violation support the imposition of the proposed 
administrative civil liability in this case and no downward adjustment is warranted.

b) Costs of Investigation and Enforcement Adjustment: $22,797

The Enforcement Policy allows for the costs of investigation and enforcement to 
be considered under other factors as justice may require. To date, the Los Angeles 
Water Board has incurred $22,797 in staff costs associated with the investigation, 
preparation, and enforcement of the violation. This represents 
approximately 182.84 hours of staff time devoted to the investigation, preparation, 
and enforcement of the violation. No attorneys’ fees are included in this calculation. 
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The Los Angeles Water Board Prosecution Team finds that it is appropriate to 
increase the Total Base Liability Amount by $22,797 in consideration of 
investigation and enforcement costs incurred in prosecuting this matter. Increasing 
the Total Base Liability Amount in this manner serves to create a more appropriate 
deterrent against future violations. 

Step 9. Maximum and Minimum Liability Amounts

The Enforcement Policy requires the Los Angeles Water Board to consider maximum and 
minimum liability amounts set forth in the applicable statutes.

a) Maximum Liability Amount

Water Code section 13385, subdivision (c) provides that liability of up to $10 per 
gallon shall apply to volumes of waste discharged but not cleaned up in excess of 
1,000 gallons plus $10,000 per day for each violation. The gallons discharged 
minus 1,000 is 5,078,770 (5,079,770 gallons – 1,000 gallons). The total days of 
violation is 3. Therefore, the statutory maximum is $50,817,700.

b) Minimum Liability Amount

Water Code section 13385, subdivision (e) requires that when pursuing civil liability 
under section 13385, “[a]t a minimum, liability shall be assessed at a level that 
recovers the economic benefits, if any, derived from the acts that constitute the 
violation.” Therefore, the statutory minimum is $747,370.

The Enforcement Policy requires the Los Angeles Water Board to recover, at a 
minimum, 10% more than the economic benefit. The economic benefit is $747,370. 
Therefore, the minimum under the Enforcement Policy is $822,107.

Step 10. Final Liability Amount: $11,517,529

The Final Liability Amount consists of the amount for the violation, provided the amount 
is within the minimum and maximum liability amounts. The Total Base Liability Amount 
was added to the investigation and enforcement costs accrued by the Los Angeles Water 
Board Prosecution Team. Therefore, the Final Liability Amount assessed pursuant to 
Water Code section 13385 is $11,517,529, which is within the minimum and maximum 
liability amounts.

Alternative Violation: Causing or permitting the discharge of hazardous 
substances to the Dominguez Channel Estuary, a water of the state and United 
States, without a permit.

The analysis below is specific to the Water Code section 13350, subdivision (b)(1) 
violation, plead in the alternative, for causing or permitting at least 5,079,770 gallons of 
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water containing hazardous substances (acetaldehyde, benzene, benzoic acid, and 
naphthalene) to be discharged to the Dominguez Channel Estuary, a water of the state 
and United States, without a permit from September 30 – October 2, 2021.

When only considering the hazardous substances, the analysis results in the same 
penalty calculation methodology scores and multipliers identified above except for the 
following:

Step 2. Assessment for Discharge Violations

Either per gallon or per day amounts may be assessed under Water Code section 13350, 
but not both. The Los Angeles Water Board Prosecution Team has elected to assess a 
per gallon assessment, as a per day assessment would result in an inappropriately low 
administrative civil liability.

a) Deviation from Requirement: Major

The Deviation from Requirement reflects the extent to which the violation deviates 
from the specific requirement that was violated. The Deviation from Requirement 
for the alleged violation is Major. The Enforcement Policy defines a Major Deviation 
from Requirement as “[t]he requirement was rendered ineffective (e.g., the 
requirement was rendered ineffective in its essential functions).”

Water Code section 13350, subdivision (b)(1) prohibits the discharge of hazardous 
substances unless authorized by waste discharge requirements (i.e., a permit). 
Waste discharge requirements protect surface water by either prohibiting 
discharge of pollutants to surface waters or prescribing requirements for discharge 
to surface waters.

The Deviation from Requirement is Major because Water Code section 13350, 
subdivision (b)(1) was rendered ineffective in its essential function of protecting the 
Dominguez Channel Estuary from a discharge containing the hazardous 
substances alleged above which resulted in negative impacts to the Dominguez 
Channel Estuary and nearby residents. A discharge of the type alleged herein 
would never have been permitted by the Los Angeles Water Board.

b) Per Gallon Assessment for Discharge Violations: $5,079,770

When there is a discharge, the Los Angeles Water Board determines the initial 
liability on a per gallon basis using the Potential for Harm Score from Step 1 and 
the Deviation from Requirement.

Table 1 of the Enforcement Policy is used to determine the per gallon factor using 
the Potential for Harm Score and the Deviation from Requirement. Using a 
Potential for Harm Score of 10 and a Deviation from Requirement of Major, the per 
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gallon factor is 1.0. This per gallon factor is then multiplied by the volume of the 
discharge and the maximum per gallon amount, as described below.

Per Gallon Assessment = 1.0 (per gallon factor) x 5,079,770 gallons x $1.00 per 
gallon = $5,079,770

c) Initial Liability Amount: $5,079,770

The Initial Liability Amount is the Per Gallon Assessment plus the Per Day 
Assessment. Since the violation is assessed only on a per gallon basis, the Initial 
Liability Amount is equal to the Per Gallon Assessment of $5,079,770.

Step 6. Total Base Liability Amount

Total Base Liability Amount = $5,079,770 (Initial Liability Amount) x 1.5 (Degree of 
Culpability) x 1.0 (History of Violations) x 1.5 (Cleanup and Cooperation) = 
$11,429,482

Step 9. Maximum and Minimum Liability Amounts

a) Maximum Liability Amount

Pursuant to Water Code section 13350, subdivision (e)(2), the statutory maximum 
administrative civil liability is $10 for each gallon of waste discharged. The 
Dischargers are alleged to have caused and/or permitted at least 5,079,770 
gallons of water containing hazardous substances to be discharged to the 
Dominguez Channel Estuary. Therefore, the statutory maximum liability under 
Water Code section 13350, subdivision (e)(2) is $50,797,000.

b) Minimum Liability Amount

The Enforcement Policy requires the Los Angeles Water Board to recover, at a 
minimum, 10% more than the economic benefit. The economic benefit is $747,370. 
Therefore, the minimum under the Enforcement Policy is $822,107.

Step 10. Final Liability Amount: $11,452,279

The Final Liability Amount consists of the amount for the violation, provided the amount 
is within the minimum and maximum liability amounts. The Total Base Liability Amount 
was added to the investigation and enforcement costs accrued by the Los Angeles Water 
Board Prosecution Team. Therefore, the Final Liability Amount that could be assessed 
pursuant to Water Code section 13350 is $11,452,279, which is within the minimum and 
maximum liability amounts.
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